FILED SID J WHITE

JUL 19 1994

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SHPREME COURT
By
Chief Deputy Clerk

CASE NO. 80,446

DARRYL BARWICK,

Appellant,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

W. C. McLAIN
ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER
FLORIDA BAR NO. 201170
LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE
FOURTH FLOOR NORTH
301 SOUTH MONROE STREET
TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301
(904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

The lower court's record and the trial transcripts are numbered separately. References to the record will be designated with the prefix "R" and references to the transcripts will be designated with a "TR." A supplemental record on appeal includes the transcript of the partial trial of this case which resulted in a mistrial, various hearings and a transcript of tape recorded statements Appellant gave police. References to the supplement will be designated with the prefix "SR."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Procedural Progress Of The Case

A Bay County grand jury indicted Darryl Bryan Barwick on April 28, 1986, for first degree murder, armed burglary, attempted sexual battery and armed robbery. (R 241-242) In November of 1986, Barwick was tried and found guilty as charged. (R 652-653, 678-684) On January 30, 1987, Circuit Judge W. Fred Turner sentenced Barwick to death in accordance with the jury's recommendation. (R 654, 678-688) This Court, on direct appeal, issued a decision reversing Barwick's judgment and sentence for a new trial. (R 694-697) Barwick v. State, 547 So.2d 612 (Fla. 1989).

The assistant public defenders who originally tried this case were reappointed for the new trial. (R 699) However, they moved to withdraw due to a conflict of interest. (R 710) Roy A. Lake was appointed to represent Barwick on February 9, 1990. (R 711) The retrial of this case was originally assigned to Judge Turner, but after his retirement, the case was reassigned to Circuit Judge N. Russell Bower. Judge Bower, on his own motion, recused himself from the case. (R 898) The chief judge assigned Circuit Judge Clinton E. Foster to the case on February 28, 1991. (R 899)

On June 5, 1991, Barwick moved to disqualify Judge Foster. (R 949-956) After a hearing, Judge Foster orally denied the motion to disqualify. (SR 40-67) Barwick, on June 7, filed a renewed motion to disqualify Judge Foster alleging the original and additional grounds. (R 975-981) Judge Foster entered a

written order on the motion to disqualify on the same day. (R 989-995) On June 11, 1991, Barwick filed a petition for writ of prohibition concerning this issue which this Court denied on June 14, 1991. (Barwick v. Foster, Case No. 78,071) Judge Foster denied the renewed motion to disqualify on June 19, 1991. (R 1002-1005)

Due to an injury he received in an automobile accident, Lake was unable to continue representation of Barwick, and on February 5, 1992, the court appointed Robert T. Adams to the case. (R 1099-1100, 1114)

Barwick proceeded to a jury trial on June 22, 1992. (R 1167-1175, 1184-1185) The court declared a mistrial on the third day of the trial. (R 1183) Barwick filed a motion to dismiss on double jeopardy grounds which the court denied. (R 1205-1214) A new trial commence on July 6, 1992. (R 1215-1257)

The jury found Barwick guilty as charged and recommended a death sentence for the murder. (R 1236-1238, 1254) On August 11, 1992, Judge Foster adjudged Barwick guilty and sentenced him to death for the murder, to life for the armed burglary, to 30 years for the attempted sexual battery and to life for the armed robbery. (R 1281-1299) In support of the death sentence, the court found six aggravating circumstances: (1) a previous conviction for a violent felony based on a 1983 conviction for sexual battery and burglary (R 1281-1282); (2) the homicide was committed during an attempted sexual battery (R 1282-1283, 1306-1307); (3) the homicide was committed to avoid arrest (R 1283); (4) the homicide was committed for pecuniary gain (R

1284, 1306-1307); (5) the homicide was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel (R 1285); (6) the homicide was cold, calculated and premeditated (R 1285-1286). Regarding mitigation, the court rejected all of the statutory mitigating circumstances. (R 1287-1290) The court acknowledged the substantial evidence of Barwick's mental disturbance at the time of the crime but concluded his condition did not rise to the level of a statutory mitigating circumstance and did not constitute "a significant mitigating circumstance." (R 1287-1288) As to nonstatutory mitigating circumstances, the court found Barwick was abused as a child but decided this was not a mitigating circumstance. (R 1290-1291) Additionally, the court acknowledged there was evidence that Barwick suffered some mental or emotional deficiencies. (R 1291)

Barwick filed his notice of appeal to this Court. (R 1309)

Motion To Disqualify Trial Judge

Barwick's motion to disqualify Judge Foster was heard on June 5, 1991. (SR 40-67) The motion alleged that Barwick had reasons to fear that he would not receive a fair trial with Judge Foster presiding because of extra-judicial conduct and statements indicating Foster had prejudged psychological issues critical to the defense and that the judge's concern for the county's finances were paramount to Barwick's ability to prepare his defense. (R 949-965) (A copy of the Motion For Disqualification Of Judge is reproduced in Appendix A, attached to

this brief) An affidavit containing the factual basis for the motion was attached to the motion. (R 358-362) (Appendix A)

The substance of the affidavit contained the following: On February 28, 1991, Judge Foster had been assigned to handle this case after the retirement of Judge W. Fred Turner and after Judge N. Russell Bower recused himself on his own motion. (R 959) Barwick had pending at that time a second motion for interim payment of attorney's fees and a motion to appoint a psychiatrist to assist in preparing the defense. (R 959) Judge Foster held a status conference on the case at which he asked if the case had been tried previously and whether a transcript of the trial was available. (R 959-960) After receiving affirmative answers, Judge Foster "repeatedlyquestioned the necessity of any further trial preparation or additional expert assistance." (R 960) At a hearing a few days later, April 2, 1991, Judge Foster, on his own motion, rescinded Judge Turner's previous orders appointing a defense investigator, a psychologist and a neurologist. The judge, at that time, said he would determine if any additional work would authorized at county expense. Although the court reappointed the neurologist, he did so at a fee of \$150 an hour without information as to the reasonableness of the fee. He did not reappoint the psychologist or investigator. (R 960) Additionally, Judge Foster refused to authorize interim fees for defense counsel even though Judge Turner had earlier granted an

- 5 **-**

interim fee arrangement for counsel. (R 960)

Judge Foster's actions in denying the motion for appointment of a psychiatrist were also detailed in the affidavit. (R The motion was filed because the defense psychologist, Theodore Blau, Ph.D., had recommended obtaining the assistance of a psychiatrist to aid in the assessment of Barwick's mental impairments as they related to the issues in the case. No psychiatrist had been previously appointed. the hearing on March 19, 1991, the prosecutor presented no argument but requested time to file a written memorandum. Judge Foster granted the State time to file the memorandum and gave the defense time to file a response. The prosecutor never filed a memorandum. On April 2 and April 19, 1991, the defense again raised the motion and the court again gave more time to the State to prepare a memorandum. Defense counsel learned that on May 14, 1991, a discussion between the prosecutor and the judge, in defense counsel's absence, occurred. At that time, the prosecutor told the judge a hearing on the motion would be needed. Instead, the court, on the same day, summarily denied the motion. (R 962)

The final paragraph of the affidavit stated a comment Judge Foster made about the defense psychologist as told to defense counsel:

15. I have recently been told that Judge Foster once made reference specifically to Dr. Blau, the defense psychologist in this case, saying in substance that the doctor —— like other psychologists —— would say anything that the party that hired him wished him to say. It is my information and belief that Dr. Blau has never

- 6 -

testified before Judge Foster and that Judge Foster has never met Dr. Blau.

(R 962)

On June 5, 1991, Judge Foster heard the Motion For Disqualification Of Judge. (SR 40-67) The court evaluated each paragraph of the affidavit before denying the motion. (SR 40-67) Paragraphs one through nine essentially stated historical information about the progress of the case. (R 958-959) (Appendix Regarding paragraphs ten through 13, which concerned Judge A) Foster's rescission of orders Judge Turner entered for defense experts and an investigator and interim attorney's fees, Judge Foster ultimately ruled this was insufficient as a matter of law to support the motion. (R 989-1013) (Appendix B) (SR 45-52) The judge explained that he does not, as a practice, approve interim fees for attorneys. (SR 46-47, 49-52) At one point, as counsel explained that as a sole practitioner he needed interim fees, the Judge Foster said, "Then have you considered withdrawing from the case?" (SR 77) As to the allegation contained in paragraph 11 claiming Judge Foster questioned the need for further trial preparation since a transcript of the first trial was available, the Judge said he did not disagree, but he further said that he had the obligation to inquire and expedite the case. (SR 47-48) Judge Foster agreed with paragraph 12 of the affidavit that he had rescinded previous order appointing a defense investigator and defense experts on his own motion. (SR 48-49) However, the judge added that he rescinded the orders with leave to resubmit orders that put more limitations on the

costs. (SR 48-49) The judge said he would review a transcript of the hearing where the orders were rescinded before ruling on the legal sufficiency of this paragraph. (SR 49) Later, in the written order the court referenced the transcript of the April 2, 1991, hearing and denied that he had rescinded orders for all defense assistance in the case. (R 990-991) (Appendix B)

In paragraph 14, Barwick alleged that Judge Foster summarily denied his motion for appointment of an psychiatrist after an ex parte communication with the prosecutor. (R 961-962) (Appendix A) Judge Foster said this was insufficient to show prejudice, although his actions may have been error. (SR 55-57)

Finally, the claim in paragraph 15 was that Judge Foster had said that the defense psychologist, like other psychologists, "would say anything that the party that hired him wished him to say." (R 963) At the hearing, defense counsel related the claim and stated that it showed prejudice toward his expert, Dr. Blau, and toward the mental health issue which would be involved in the case. (SR 57) Judge Foster responded,

THE COURT: Well, that, that, that could be, that could be. I do not know Dr. Blau. As far as I know he has never testified before me; he may have. But -- And I'm not getting into the truth of the matter, but I think it's insufficient when it's based totally on hearsay without identifying the source of it.

(SR 57) At the close of the hearing, Defense counsel asked for a stay to seek the issuance of a writ from this Court, which the trial court denied. (SR 63-64)

On the afternoon of the day of the hearing on the motion to disqualify, Judge Foster telephoned defense counsel's office to schedule a hearing. (R 125) Since counsel's office was out of town and he had other matters scheduled the following day, a telephone conference was arranged for the next morning, June 6, 1991. (R 125) At the telephone hearing, the prosecutor and Barwick were personally present in the Judge's chambers. (R 125-129) The Court advised defense counsel that he had received information that counsel, Roy Lake, had consulted with the public defenders who had represented Barwick on the previous trial but who had to withdraw due to a conflict of interest. (R 125-126) Judge Foster also said he had been told that, in fact, the public defenders had prepared the motion to disqualify heard the previous day. (R 125-126) Roy Lake replied that he had, indeed, consulted with the public defenders, Mr. Stone and Ms. Sutton, and that Barwick knew of this contact. (R 127-128) Lake also objected to the procedures the judge was employing at the hearing. (R 127) The judge responded stating that he wanted to bring the matter to Barwick's attention and he wanted a determination made as to whether Lake's actions impacted on Barwick's representation. (R 128-129)

On the next morning, June 7th, Barwick filed a renewed motion to disqualify Judge Foster and to place ex parte communications on the record. (R 375-388) (Appendix C) The montion alleged the grounds raised earlier and the following additional grounds: (1) that Judge Foster disputed several factual

allegations during the hearing on the motion to disqualify on June 5, 1991; (2) that Judge Foster appeared angry and offended at the June 5th motion hearing and at the June 6th telephone conference which created more concern for Barwick about the judge presiding over his case; and (3) Judge Foster's actions surrounding the telephone conference and the ex parte communication upon which he based it. (R 375-388)

Shortly after noon on June 7, 1991, Judge Foster filed his order denying the original motion to disqualify him as the trial judge in the case heard on June 5th. (R 389-399) (Appendix B) Barwick filed a petition for writ of prohibition in this Court on June 11, 1991. Barwick v. Foster, Case no. 78,071. The petition included a copy of the June 7th renewed motion for disqualification, which was still pending in the trial court, for informational purposes. (R 130) This Court denied the writ on June 14, 1991. Barwick v. Foster, Case no. 78,071. On June 17, 1991, Judge Foster heard the renewed motion to disqualify and orally denied it. (R 124-148) The court filed a written order on June 19, 1991. (R 1013) (Appendix D)

Jury Selection

During jury selection, the State used a peremptory challenge on a black prospective juror. (TR 138-139) The prosecutor immediately volunteered three reasons: (1) she was the first cousin of Tony Peace, who was a Panama City police officer discharged for dishonesty; (2) another assistant state

attorney wrote a note on the jury list that he believed that the juror had been in some kind of trouble; and (3) she has a speech impediment which the prosecutor suggested might also reflect her intelligence and affect her ability to communicate with other jurors. (TR 138-139, 153-154) Defense counsel objected that these reasons were not valid and were not supported by the record. (TR 140-142, 148-152) The only fact established through questioning of Peace was that she was the first cousin of Tony Peace. (TR 131) The court allowed the peremptory challenge of the juror solely on the basis of her being Tony Peace's cousin. (TR 150-153)

Guilt Phase

Rebecca Wendt shared an apartment with her sister, Michael Ann Wendt, and worked as a waitress in the nearby Mexican Restaurant in March of 1986. (TR 203-206). Their apartment was located in a one-story complex in Panama City. (TR 204-205). On March 31, 1986, their younger brother and sister were visiting for their spring break. (TR 206). Michael picked up her brother and sister at the airport on the night of March 30, 1986, and they stopped at the restaurant where Rebecca was working to eat. (TR 207). Michael later picked up Rebecca from work since she did not have a driver's license. (TR 208). Rebecca did not have a bank account, since she had moved down to the area only a month earlier, and she kept her money in her purse. (TR 209). On the morning of March 31st, Michael planned to take her visiting brother and sister to the beach. (TR 209).

Joann Parello, a friend of Michael's, also went with them. (TR They went to Ft. Walton rather than Panama City because there was a water slide in Ft. Walton. (TR 210). They left in Michael's friend's car about 10:00 in the morning. (TR 210). Rebecca was sunbathing on the grass in front of the apartment. (TR 210-213). Michael returned to the apartment about 8:00 that night. (TR 214). There were no lights on inside the apartment. (TR 214). The cord of the television was in the doorway. (TR 214). Michael and Becky frequently watched a television program at noon during the day. (TR 211). When Michael attempted to open the door, they found the door unlocked. (TR 214). Michael turned the lights on in the apartment and saw popcorn, broken glass, and other items in the apartment in disarray. The contents of Rebecca's purse were also on the floor. (TR 214). There was a red stain on the carpet which appeared to be blood. (TR 215). With the help of a neighbor, Michael and Joann checked through the apartment and found Rebecca's body in the bathroom, wrapped in a comforter from Michael's bed. (TR 215).

Investigator Frank McKeithen testified about his observations at the apartment. (TR 240-264). He found Rebecca Wendt lying on the bathroom floor, partially wrapped in a bed comforter. (TR 243). She was wearing a turquoise two-piece bathing suit; the top was pulled down to her mid section and the bottom was pulled down in the back. (TR 243). She had suffered stab wounds. (TR 243). There was blood at various places throughout the interior of the apartment. (TR 243-244). He found some

partial footprints on the floor in blood. (TR 244). There were also bloody fingerprints on the some items out of the purse and wallet. (TR 244). There was a partial footprint on the tile of the bathroom floor and on the comforter on the body. (TR 244). Over defense objections, a video of the crime scene was introduced into evidence. (TR 261-263). Additionally, numerous photographs were introduced. (TR 245-279).

Associate medical examiner, Dr. Terrance Steiner, performed the autopsy on Rebecca Wendt. (TR 426, 439-443). His examination found 37 stab wounds and several cuts to the hands that were incised wounds where a blade had been drawn across the fingers. (TR 447-448). He examined swabs from the oral, vaginal, and annal areas for the presence of spermatizoa and found none. (TR 446). He found no evidence of sexual contact. (TR 447). The victim had a blood alcohol level of .01, which is equivalent to about half a beer. (TR 447). There were five knife wounds to the neck, eight to the left chest, eight to the left breast, six to the right chest area, two to the left arm, two to the right arm, one to the left wrist, one below the breast bone, and two in the upper-left abdomen. (TR 450). There were scratch marks where the tips of the knife of the wound moved over the skin without raising the knife again for penetrating to another wound. (TR 450) He characterized the slicing wounds across the hands as defensive wounds. (TR 452-453) The life-threatening wounds were to the neck, one of them cutting the left cataroid artery. (TR 455). Five of the eight wounds to the left breast punctured into the chest cavity, causing air to be pulled into the chest cavity and loss of breath. (TR 455-456). Two wounds to the abdomen penetrated the liver. (TR 457). Steiner was of the opinion that the wound penetrating the left chest was the first wound, since most of the blood was found inside the left chest area. (TR 458-459). Rebecca Wendt died from shock due to blood loss because of the multiple stab wounds. (TR 463) Steiner believed a knife-life instrument with a blade of about 5 1/2 inches produced the wounds. (TR 462). He stated that the victim would have gone into shock within three to ten minutes if the first wound was the one to the chest area. (TR 461) If the first wound was the one cutting the aorta, the blood loss would have occurred more rapidly, and shock could have been as quickly as one and onehalf minutes. (TR 461) Approximately three to a maximum of ten minutes would have elapsed before death would have occurred. (TR 461-462)

Three witnesses testified to their observations at the apartment around the time of the homicide. Laura Raffield also lived in the apartment complex. (TR 216-217) During the morning hours of March 31, 1986, Raffield observed one of the Wendt girls sunbathing in front of her apartment. (TR 219) About 15 minutes until noon, the Wendt girl got up and went into her house. (TR 219) Raffield left her apartment around 1:00 p.m. (TR 220) She returned about 2:30 p.m. (TR 220) She did not see the girl outside at that time. (TR 220) Tim Cherry, who at the time of trial was Michael Ann Wendt's husband, was a lieutenant in the Coast Guard and living in Virginia, in March of

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