FILED

SID J. WHITE

OCT 24 1994

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By _________ Chilef Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

DARRYL BARWICK,

Appellant,

vs.

CASE NO. 80,446

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF THE FOURTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BAY COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

RICHARD B. MARTELL CHIEF, CAPITAL APPEALS FLORIDA BAR NO. 0300179

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

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

- 64 -

<u>State</u>, <u>supra</u>. The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT VIII

THE INSTANT SENTENCE OF DEATH IS NOT DISPROPORTIONATE.

his next point, Barwick contends that the As instant sentence of death is disproportionate. Appellant's premise is a direct result of his view of the evidence, to the effect that this was an "unintentional" crime, committed during a "panic", and one in which Barwick's alleged mental and emotional problems played a great part. Of course, in convicting Barwick, and sentencing him to death, the judge and jury below conclusively rejected this view of the case, and Appellant has failed to demonstrate that this Court should now, in essence, resolve factual conflicts in his favor. Cf. Wuornos, supra. In support of his position, Appellant relies upon a number of jury override cases, which are clearly distinguishable - Holsworth v. State, 522 So.2d 348 (Fla. 1988), Amazon, supra and Burch, supra - as well as other cases involving "impulsive killings during the course of other felonies", such as Proffitt v. State, 510 So.2d 896 (Fla. 1987), Rembert v. State, 445 So.2d 337 (Fla. 1984) and Caruthers v. State, 465 So.2d 496 (Fla. 1985). Appellee these respectfully contends that cases are easilv distinguishable, and that the instant sentence of death is in accordance with this Court's precedents.

However much Barwick's appellate counsel chooses to stress his "mental and emotional impairment", the fact remains that, although the defense called six (6) mental health experts (and

- 65 -

utilized the deposition of a seventh), none of the experts testified that Barwick's mental impairment rose to the level of statutory mitigation. In fact, as noted, Drs. Annis and McClaren expressly testified that neither statutory mitigating circumstance relating to mental state applied (T 715-16, 767-8). Dr. Annis specifically testified that he saw no signs of any major affective disorder or schizophrenia, and Dr. McClaren likewise stated that he found no psychosis (T 684-5, 765); at most, both found that Barwick was frustrated, anxious and suffering from a personality disorder (T 685, 706-7, 753, 767). While Dr. McClaren found some evidence of brain dysfunction and learning disability, he also measured Barwick's IQ as 103, indicating average intelligence (T 747-8). While Dr. Beller likewise found a learning disability due to brain damage, he also assessed Barwick as having average intelligence (T 780-1); based upon Barwick's account of the murder, Beller found him to be a "psychopathic sexual deviant" (T 785-6).

Additionally, Dr. Warriner, who had originally examined Barwick in 1980 and concluded that he could be rehabilitated (a diagnosis which he disavowed and recanted and the hearing below (T 835)), likewise described Barwick as a psychopathic sexual deviant, who was extraordinarily dangerous because he could "pass for extremely normal" (T 840); the defense expert opined that there was no appropriate treatment for Barwick, and that, at most, he should be "contained" (T 845). Dr. Hord testified that, while Barwick was very unsettled and unstable, he was not psychotic, and, in fact, had an average IQ (T 851). Finally, Dr. Walker stated that, although Barwick had known the difference

- 66 -

between right and wrong and had known that what he was doing was wrong, he was a sexual deviant who "should not be put on the street under any circumstances" (T 883-4).

The State respectfully suggests that two "themes" emerge from the above-cited evidence. First of all, while there was testimony to the effect that Barwick suffered from the above conditions, it cannot be said that his mental impairment was on a par with that of the defendants in the cases cited in the Initial See e.g., Jones, supra (defendant suffered from paranoid Brief. Burch, supra (judge found statutory mitigating psychosis); substantial impairment); Miller, supra circumstance of (defendant suffered from paranoid schizophrenia). This case is also distinguishable from Fitzpatrick v. State, 527 So.2d 809 (Fla. 1988), in which this Court concluded that the death sentence was disproportionate, given the judge's finding that statutory mitigating circumstances, including both three involving mental state, applied; in contrast to the situation sub judice, the mental health experts had been unanimous that the defendant's mental impairment rose to that level. Further, the evidence presented by Barwick simply was not that mitigating. Being diagnosed as a sexual deviant who is too dangerous to ever be released hardly presents an uncontrovertible basis for a life Sochor, supra ("difficult to discern" whether sentence. Cf. fact that defendant became violent after being refused sex was "mitigating").

Additionally, this case is clearly distinguishable from the other cases relied upon by Barwick, such as <u>Rembert</u>, <u>Proffitt</u>, and <u>Caruthers</u> due not only to the dearth of mitigation, but also

- 67 -

the existence of extreme aggravation. As this Court noted in distinguishing the above trio of cases in other precedents, those cases involve factual situations in which minimal aggravation, and more substantial mitigation, had been presented. See e.q., Hudson v. State, 538 So.2d 829, 832 (Fla. 1989) (Proffit and Caruthers distinguished); Young v. State, 579 So.2d 721, 724-5 1991) (Proffitt distinguished as case with "one weak (Fla. aggravator, substantial mitigation"; Caruthers distinguished as case with "one aggravator, one significant mitigator"; Rembert with "one aggravator, considerable distinguished as case mitigating evidence"); Asay v. State, 580 So.2d 610, 614 (Fla. 1991) (Proffitt and Caruthers distinguished).5

This case represents one in which strong aggravation was properly found, and the death sentence has been imposed, and Rhodes v. approved, in comparable circumstances. See e.g., State, 638 So.2d 920 (Fla. 1994) (death penalty proportionate, where defendant, with prior conviction, committed murder during attempted sexual battery, even in light of "substantial mental Sochor, supra (death penalty proportionate, in mitigation"); case in which defendant with prior conviction committed murder during attempted sexual battery; sentence remained proper even after striking of cold, calculated aggravator); Happ v. State, 596 So.2d 991 (Fla. 1992) (death penalty appropriate where defendant, with prior record, raped and murdered victim, even though cold, calculated aggravator stricken and non-statutory

⁵ Although Barwick also relies upon <u>Richardson v. State</u>, 437 So.2d 1091 (Fla. 1993) (Initial Brief at 70-1), such was a jury override case, in which the death sentence was reversed on grounds other than proportionality.

mitigation found); <u>Owen</u>, <u>supra</u> (death penalty proportionate, where defendant with prior record broke into victim's apartment and sexually assaulted and murdered her); <u>Hudson v. State</u>, <u>supra</u> (death penalty proportionate, where defendant with prior record broke into apartment and stabbed victim to death, where minimal weight afforded to defendant's mental problems and age). The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

POINT IX

FUNDAMENTAL ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE PROSECUTOR'S CLOSING ARGUMENT AT THE PENALTY PHASE.

Barwick next contends that his sentence of death must be reversed due to the prosecutor's closing argument at the penalty phase. During this argument, the assistant state attorney argued, without objection, that neither sympathy for the victim nor the defendant was a valid consideration for the jury, or a proper basis for their verdict, and that the jury should "follow the law"; the prosecutor specifically admonished the jury that a life recommendation could not be premised upon "sympathy alone" (T 933-4). On appeal, Appellant maintains that this argument was erroneous in two respects - (1) that it urged the jury to consider sympathy for the victim and (2) that it improperly precluded the jury from considering sympathy as a mitigating circumstance or as a basis to recommend life. Appellee disagrees with both of Barwick's contentions.

Initially, however, and dispositive of the issue, is the fact that any claim of error has been waived due to the absence of contemporaneous objection below. This Court has consistently held that the contemporaneous objection rule applies in capital

- 69 -

proceedings, and that a defendant's failure to object to prosecutorial argument waives any claim of error therein for appeal. <u>See e.g., Rose v. State</u>, 461 So.2d 84, 86 (Fla. 1984); <u>Teffeteller v. State</u>, 495 So.2d 744 (Fla. 1986); <u>Crump v. State</u>, 622 So.2d 963 (Fla. 1993). Although the comments at issue do not even rise to this level, it should additionally be noted that this Court has specifically held that claims of error involving alleged "victim impact argument" cannot be reviewed in the absence of objection, thus precluding any contention that such could rise to the level of fundamental error. <u>See e.g., Grossman</u> <u>v. State</u>, 525 So.2d 833 (Fla. 1988); <u>Daugherty v. State</u>, 533 So.2d 787 (Fla. 1988). Barwick has cited no precedent of this Court which provides that the errors complained of <u>sub judice</u> are fundamental. Accordingly, the instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

To the extent that any further argument is required, Appellee would suggest that Barwick has failed to demonstrate the existence of error, let alone reversible error. Appellant's first argument - to the effect that the prosecutor was actually urging the jury to consider sympathy for the victim - can only have been derived from a strained reading of the record. The remarks of the prosecutor are, of course, directly to the contrary (". . . I can't argue sympathy. It's improper."). То the extent that the prosecutor discussed the victim's pain and suffering as such related to the heinous, atrocious or cruel factor, such was not improper. See Phillips v. State, 476 So.2d 194, 196 (Fla. 1985) ("The mindset or mental anguish of the victim is an important factor in determining whether this

- 70 -

aggravating circumstance applies"). Under this Court's precedents, no relief is warranted. <u>See e.g.</u>, <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 442 So.2d 185 (Fla. 1983) (prosecutor's brief request for sympathy for victim's family not so prejudicial as to warrant reversal); <u>Nixon v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1336 (Fla. 1990) (prosecutor's request that victim not be forgotten not "golden rule" argument).

As to Appellant's second argument, it should be noted that Barwick himself concedes that "mere sympathy, which has no source in the mitigating evidence, may not appropriately be the sole foundation for the jury's decision," correctly citing to California v. Brown, 479 U.S. 538, 107 S.Ct. 837, 93 L.Ed.2d 934 (1987) and Valle v. State, 581 So.2d 40 (Fla. 1991), for such (Initial Brief at 74-5). Inasmuch as this is proposition. exactly what the prosecutor argued, (" . . . don't fall into that category that this man, that just on the basis of sympathy, sympathy alone that you are going to vote, to recommend to the judge that he be sentenced to life imprisonment with the possibility of parole after twenty-five years in prison. Don't let sympathy make you vote that way." (T 934)), Barwick's point on appeal is difficult to discern. It is likewise difficult to fathom how asking the jury to put aside irrational emotion, and to decide their verdict in accordance with the law, could amount to fundamental error. See, e.g., Jones v. State, 569 So.2d 1234, 1239 (Fla. 1990) ("A verdict is an intellectual task to be performed on the basis of the applicable law and facts."). The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

- 71 -

REVERSIBLE ERROR HAS NOT BEEN DEMONSTRATED, IN REGARD TO THE JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE HEINOUS, ATROCIOUS OR CRUEL AGGRAVATING CIRCUMSTANCE.

In this claim, Barwick contends that his sentence of death must be vacated, because an inadequate instruction was given to heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating the jury on the Appellant maintains that he objected to this circumstance; instruction and proposed an alternate. Barwick concedes, however, that this Court has held, in such cases as Hall v. State, 614 So.2d 473 (Fla. 1993), that the instruction sub judice is constitutional (Initial Brief at 76), but asks this Court to reconsider such position. Appellee respectfully suggests that, under all of the facts and circumstances of this case, Appellant is entitled to no relief.

Initially, the state would question the preservation of this Although Barwick did voice an objection to the point. definitions contained in this jury instruction (T 870-1, 903, 961), he never formally stated the basis for his objection, and never placed the court on notice that a constitutional claim existed. Likewise, although defense counsel stated that he had a proposed instruction in this regard (T 903), the record does not contain any alternative instruction. Accordingly, Appellee contends that it would be inconsistent with James v. State, 615 So.2d 668 (Fla. 1993) for this Court to review this claim on the See, e.g., Kujawa v. State, 405 So.2d 251, 252, n.3 merits. (Fla. 3rd DCA 1981) (objection that jury instruction violated defendant's constitutional rights "too generalized to preserve

claim of error"); Courson v. State, 414 So.2d 207, 209-210 (Fla. 3rd DCA 1982) (in order to preserve for appellate review objection to court's giving or denial of instruction, defendant must state distinctly the matter to which he objects and the grounds for his objection); Castor v. State, 365 So.2d 701 (Fla. 1978) (in order to further the purposes behind the contemporaneous objection rule, objection must be specific enough to apprise the trial court of the putative error and preserve the issue for intelligent review on appeal). This claim is waived.

To the extent that this Court disagrees, Appellee would contend that Barwick is nevertheless entitled to no relief. The jury in this case was given the full instruction contemplated by this Court in State v. Dixon, 283 So.2d 1 (Fla. 1973):

> The crime for which the defendant is to be sentenced was especially heinous, atrocious or cruel.

> 'Heinous' means extremely wicked or shockingly evil.

'Atrocious' means outrageously wicked and vile.

'Cruel' means to designed to inflict a high degree of pain with utter indifference to or even enjoyment of the suffering of others.

The kind of crime intended to be included as heinous, atrocious or cruel is one accompanied by additional acts that show that the crime was conscienceless or pitiless and was unnecessarily torturous to the victim (T 956-7).

As Appellant concedes, this Court has previously, and repeatedly, held that this jury instruction is constitutionally sufficient. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Power v. State</u>, 605 So.2d 856, 864-5, n.10 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S.Ct. 863, 123 L.Ed.2d 483 (1993); <u>Preston v. State</u>, 607 So.2d 404, 410 (Fla. 1992), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 113 S.Ct. 1619, 123 L.Ed.2d 178 (1993); <u>Hall v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>; <u>Taylor v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1038, 1043 (Fla. 1993), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, (October 3, 1994); <u>Mordenti v. State</u>, 630 So.2d 1080, 1085 (Fla.), <u>cert.</u> <u>denied</u>, <u>U.S.</u>, 114 S.Ct. 2726, 129 L.Ed.2d 849 (1994); <u>Stein v. State</u>, 632 So.2d 1361, 1367 (Fla.), <u>cert. denied</u>, <u>...</u> U.S. <u>(October 3, 1994)</u>. Appellee respectfully submits that Barwick has failed to offer this Court any good cause to recede from the above precedents.

Further, because this murder was heinous, atrocious or cruel under any definition of the terms, given the number of stab wounds and the suffering endured by the victim, any error would be harmless beyond a reasonable doubt, as this Court has concluded in comparable circumstances. See, e.g., Foster v. State, 614 So.2d 455, 462 (Fla. 1992) (insufficient definition of terms of heinous, atrocious or cruel aggravating factor harmless error, where jury could not have been misled by inadequate instruction); Davis v. State, 620 So.2d 152 (Fla. 1993) (under facts of case and under any instruction, jury would have recommended, and judge would have imposed, death); Atwater v. State, 626 So.2d 1325, 1328-9 (Fla. 1993) (because heinous, atrocious or cruel factor consistently found in cases involving repeated stabbings, jury instruction error harmless); Gorby v. State, 630 So.2d 544, 548, n.6 (Fla. 1993) (jury instruction error harmless, where murder qualified for aggravating factor "under any definition of the terms"). The instant sentence of death should be affirmed in all respects.

- 74 -

POINT XI

DENIAL OF APPELLANT'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON DURESS WAS NOT ERROR.

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